

Review

Intermittent fasting versus continuous energy-restricted diet for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and metabolic syndrome for glycemic control: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials



Xue Wang^{*a*}, Qifei Li^{*a*}, Yan Liu^{*a*}, Hua Jiang^{*b,c,d*}, Wei Chen^{*a,**}

^a Department of Clinical Nutrition, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, No. 1 Shuai fu yuan Wang fu jing Dong cheng District, Beijing 100730, China

^bInstitute for Emergency and Disaster Medicine, Sichuan Provincial People's Hospital, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, No. 32 Yi Huan Lu Xi Er Duan, Chengdu 610072, Sichuan Province, China

^c Emergency Intensive Care Unit, Emergency Medicine Center, Sichuan Provincial People's Hospital, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, No. 32 Yi Huan Lu Xi Er Duan, Chengdu 610072, Sichuan Province, China

^d Department of Acute Care Surgery, Emergency Medicine Center, Sichuan Provincial People's Hospital, University of Electronic Science and Technology of China, No. 32, Yi Huan Lu Xi Er Duan, Chengdu 610072, Sichuan Province, China

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 13 May 2021 Received in revised form 20 July 2021 Accepted 10 August 2021 Available online 12 August 2021

Keywords: Intermittent fasting Type 2 diabetes mellitus Metabolic syndrome Glycemic control Meta-analysis

ABSTRACT

Aims: To compare the safety of intermittent fasting (IF) with that of continuous energyrestricted diets (CERD) in patients with T2DM and metabolic syndrome who were overweight or obese and assess their effects on glycemic control and weight loss.

Materials and methods: We searched MEDLINE (Ovid), Embase, and SINOMED databases up to September 13, 2020. The major outcome was glycemic control and secondary outcomes were change in weight, fasting insulin, and lipid profile.

Results: Of 84 retrieved studies, 5 met our inclusion criteria. Of these, four studies comprising 355 participants were included in the *meta*-analysis. Based on changes in HbA1c (-0.06, 95% confidence interval [CI] -0.27 to 0.16) and fasting plasma glucose (-0.27, 95% CI -0.76 to 0.22), IF and CERD had similar effects on glycemic control. Moreover, IF had a better effect on weight loss (-1.70, 95% CI -3.28 to -0.11 kg). Patients in both groups experienced similar improvements in fasting insulin and lipid profile as well as similar hypoglycemic events. *Conclusions*: IF is a safe diet pattern and could be implemented for patients with T2DM or metabolic syndrome. Further studies with a larger sample size are needed to verify the effectiveness and safety of IF in patients with T2DM.

© 2021 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: chenw@pumch.cn (W. Chen). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2021.109003 0168-8227/© 2021 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

| 1. | Intro | Introduction | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|----|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| 2. | Mate | Materials and methods | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 2.1. | Databases and search strategy | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 2.2. | Inclusion and exclusion criteria | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 2.3. | Data extraction | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 2.4. | Risk of bias assessment | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 2.5. | Data analysis | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 3. | Results | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 3.1. | Study characteristics | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 3.2. | Study quality and risk of bias assessment 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 3.3. | Compliance of intermittent fasting 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 3.4. | Safety of intermittent fasting | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 3.5. | Antidiabetic drugs | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 3.6. | Meta-analysis | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | 3.6.1. Glycemic control | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | 3.6.2. Change in weight | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | 3.6.3. Lipid profile | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 3.7. | Publication bias | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 3.8. | Sensitivity analysis | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 4. | Discu | ussion | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 4.1. | 1. Summary of evidence | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 4.2. | Limitations | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 5. | Conclusions | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | CRediT authorship contribution statement | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Declaration of Competing Interest | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Acknowledgements | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Data Availability Statement | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Institutional Review Board Approval | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Infor | med Consent Statement | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Appe | endix A. Supplementary material | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Refe | rences | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

1. Introduction

Cases of adult type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) are increasing rapidly, with its global prevalence rising from 4.7% in 1980 to 8.5% in 2014. The growing burden of diabetes in low- and middle-income countries is higher than that in high-income countries [1]. Obesity is a known independent risk factor for T2DM [2] and was redefined as an adiposity-based chronic disease in 2017 by the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists [3]. It is suggested that 3–10% weight loss is beneficial for glycemic control [4]; therefore, implementing methods to control and maintain healthy weight is crucial for controlling, and even remitting T2DM. Dietary intervention is an important foundation for weight control, including the continuous energy-restricted diet (CERD), Mediterranean diet, and intermittent fasting (IF). However, the effectiveness and safety of very low-calorie diets (VLCDs) in T2DM remain debatable and controversial.

A conventional diet for a patient with diabetes, recommended by most guidelines, is a balanced diet with continuous, moderate calorie restriction [5,6]. Although continuous energy restriction has been confirmed to be effective in improving metabolism and preventing chronic diseases [7–14], it is difficult for patients to adhere to, and its long-term effects are indefinite [15-19]. IF generally refers to consuming a VLCD (500-700 kcal) for 2-4 days a week [20], which is more conveniently accepted by patients since it requires strict energy restriction for only a few days in the week [21]. Several reviews and metaanalyses [22-25] have shown that the effect of intermittent and continuous energy restriction on weight loss, lipid profile, and insulin resistance in participants with overweight or obesity was comparable. However, the effect of IF on glycemic control in patients with T2DM remains inconclusive [26-34], with limitations regarding largescale, multicenter-based clinical trials. We systematically reviewed randomized controlled trials (RCTs) comparing IF with CERD for safety, glycemic control, and weight loss in patients with overweight or obesity with metabolic syndrome or T2DM.

2. Materials and methods

This systematic review was performed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Metaanalysis (PRISMA) statement [35].

2.1. Databases and search strategy

The present *meta*-analysis was conducted and reported based on the PRISMA guidelines. We performed an extensive search of electronic databases including MEDLINE, Embase, and SINOMED without restrictions on language, region, and publication time up to September 13, 2020. In addition to this, reference lists of selected articles were also screened.

Keywords used for searching included intermittent fasting, intermittent energy restriction, prediabetes, type 2 diabetes, HbA1c, fasting glucose, and metabolic syndrome. The search strategy employed in the MEDLINE (Ovid) database is shown in Table S1, with numbers 1–8 depicting the study type limited to RCTs, point 9 showing the interventions, and numbers 10–14 describing the subjects.

2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

We selected articles that met all the following conditions:

- (1) The participants included were adult patients (aged \geq 18 years) with T2DM or metabolic syndrome.
- (2) The intervention measures implemented in experimental groups included intermittent fasting, including the 5:2 mode (wherein participants were fasting for 2 days per week and habitually dieting for the remaining 5 days) or fasting on alternate days, and the control groups adopted a CERD.
- (3) The study design was an RCT.
- (4) The changes in HbA1c, fasting blood glucose, or fasting insulin levels were reported.
- (5) The duration of the study was longer than 6 weeks.

However, we excluded articles if:

- It was an animal study, a non-randomized trial, an observational study, a review, or a case report.
- (2) The intervention group adopted continuous VLCD diet (≥1 week) or time restricted fasting.
- (3) The duration of intervention was shorter than 6 weeks.

2.3. Data extraction

Two researchers (X.W. and Q.L.) independently searched databases, and duplicated studies were removed. Pairs of independent reviewers screened the titles and abstracts of each study that met the inclusion criteria prior to screening the full text of candidate studies. Any discrepancy regarding the decision made on a particular study was dealt with via discussion and, if necessary, arbitration by a third reviewer. Reference lists of selected articles were also evaluated. Two researchers independently extracted data, including general information (first author, year, title, and country), clinical characteristics (baseline characteristics of the subjects, dietary pattern, follow-up time of the intervention, and outcomes), and method and design (randomization regimen and data analysis strategy), for all included studies. The major outcome was glycemic control, including the change in HbA1c and fasting glucose levels. While the secondary outcomes were change in weight, change in fasting insulin, and lipid profile (total cholesterol, triacylglycerol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol [LDL], and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol [HDL]), patients' compliance and safety outcomes such as hypoglycemia and other adverse events were also included.

2.4. Risk of bias assessment

Two reviewers independently assessed the risk of bias in trials according to the revised Cochrane risk of bias tool for randomized trials (RoB 2) on the outcome levels (HbA1c or fasting glucose). Bias arising due to the randomization process, deviation from intended interventions, missing outcome data, or measurement of the outcome selection of the reported result was calculated as "high risk," "low risk," or "some concerns" based on the signal questions in each item.

2.5. Data analysis

The effect of the intervention was presented as mean difference (MD) and standard deviation (SD) before and after intervention. When the SD could not be extracted directly, it was estimated according to the Cochrane Handbook [36]. If the study only provided the SD of the baseline and final outcome, the correlation coefficient was used to estimate the SD of the changes. The main outcome was glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) presented as MD, while the secondary outcomes were weight loss (presented as MD), fasting glucose, fasting insulin, and lipid profile, of which the scales were not the same as standard mean difference (SMD). Heterogeneity was tested with I².

Due to differences in eligible study populations, the effect of the intervention may vary depending on ethnicity and disease background. Therefore, weighted MD and SMD were combined with random-effects models. Sensitivity analyses were completed to detect the robustness of the statistical results and analyze possible sources of heterogeneity, excluding studies in sequence, followed by the exclusion of those with a high risk of bias.

A two-sided P value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. We used funnel plots to evaluate publish bias. Meta-analysis and funnel plots were implemented using Rev-Man 5.3 (The Nordic Cochrane Centre, Copenhagen, Denmark).

| Table 1 – Characteristics of the studies included in the systematic review. | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|------------------|---|----------------------|-------------------|--------------------------------|---|-------------------|----------|--------------------------------------|---|---|---|
| Author (year) | Country | Participants | Sample size (T/C) | Female sex (%) | Age (y) (Mean ± SD) | Baseline BMI (kg/m ²) (Mean ± SD) | Study duration | Outcomes | Loss ratio of follow-up (%) | Intervention diet | Control diet | Adjustment of hypoglycemic agents during intervention |
| Ash 2003 [37] | Australia | T2DM | 14/17 | 0 | T:54.3 ± 9.4 C:54.9 ± 9.3 | T:31.2 ± 3.4 C:32.7 ± 2.4 | 12 weeks | D3⊕† | 0 | IF for 4 consecutive days each week (liquid meal replacement formula, 1000 cal/d), ad libitum eating for the remaining 3 days (homemade, 1400–1700 cal). Mean energy intake was 1412 + 578 cal/d | 1400–1700 cal/d. Mean energy intake at 12 weeks was 1427 ± 437 cal/d | None |
| Carter 2018 [34] | Australia | T2DM | 70/67 | 56.2 | T:61.0 ± 9.0 C:61.0 ± 9.2 | T:35 ± 5.8 C:37 ± 5.7 | 12 months | 03 | 29.2 | IF for 2 inconsecutive days (500–600 cal/d), participants followed their usual diet for the other 5 days. Mean energy intake was 1643 cal/d | 1200–1500 cal/d | Baseline HbA1c < 7%, sulfonylureas and insulin for all participants were discontinued; 7% <baseline HbA1c < 10%, sulfonylureas and insulin were discontinued on IF days only, and long-acting insulin was discontinued the night before an IF day. Medications could be reduced in the control group depending on dose, at the endocrinologist's discretion; baseline HbA1c > 10%, sulfonylurea medications remained unchanged, but long-acting insulin was decreased by approximately 10 units on IF days only.</baseline |
| Parvaresh 2019 [38] | Iran | MS | 35/35 | 40.6 | T:44.6 ± 9.08 C:46.4 ± 7.94 | T:31.1 ± 3.35 C:31.6 ± 3.82 | 8 weeks | 2345 | 1.4 | IF for Saturday, Monday and Wednesday (75% energy restriction), ate a diet providing 100% energy on Sunday, Tuesday and Thursday; on Friday, ate ad libitum without limitation. | 75% of energy needs each day. | / |
| Sundfør 2018 [27] | Norway | Abdominal obesity with at least one MS criteria met | 54/58 | 50 | T:49.9 ± 10.1 C:47.5 ± 11.6 | T:35.5 ± 3.5 C:35.1 ± 3.9 | 6 months | 0234 | 2.7 | IF for 2 discontinuous days (female 400 cal/d, male 600 cal/d), consumed food as usual the remaining 5 days. Participants reduced estimated energy intake by 28%(SD18%). | Total daily energy expenditure (TDEE) minus 400 cal/600 cal (female/male). Participants reduced estimated energy intake by 26%(SD17%) | 1 |
| Williams 1998 [39] | United States | T2DM, not receiving insulin | 18/18 | 57.4 | T:51.4 ± 7.9 C:54.1 ± 7.0 | T:35.4 ± 5.4 C:35.0 ± 5.2 | 20 weeks | 0245 | 13.9 | IF for one day a week (400– 600 cal/d), 1500–1800 cal/d for the remaining days. Mean energy intake estimated was 1486 cal/d. | 1500–1800 cal/d. Took in more energy than IF group. | Oral diabetes medications were stopped 2 weeks before participation in the study. Subjects with FPG levels > 16.7 mmol/1 when medications were discontinued were excluded. oral diabetes medications were resumed at half of the dose prescribed before the study. |

† The differences between groups were not available.

Abbreviations: T: treatment group; C: control group; BMI: body mass index; T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus; MS: metabolic syndrome; IF: intermittent fasting. ()HbA1c @fasting glucose ③weight change ④lipids profile ⑤ fasting insulin.

3. Results

3.1. Study characteristics

A flow diagram of the literature search is shown in Fig. S1. We obtained a total of 68 studies after searching the databases and removing duplicates, of which 10 were potentially eligible after title and abstract screening. Finally, 5 RCTs (6 articles) were included in the systematic review [27,29,34,37–39]. One of the studies did not report the difference within the studied groups; therefore, four studies were included in quantitative synthesis, with a total of 355 subjects.

The characteristics of the five selected studies are presented in Table 1 and Table S2. Among those studies, the sample size ranged from 31 to 137, while the duration of intervention was between 8 weeks and 12 months. Two studies enrolled patients with T2DM, and the other two enrolled patients with metabolic syndrome [34,39].

3.2. Study quality and risk of bias assessment

The risk of bias assessments of the included studies are summarized in Fig. 1. One study was rated as high risk, three as some concerns, and one as low risk. Detailed results of the signal questions corresponding to each study can be found in supplementary materials. The intervention was diet, for which blinding was highly difficult; however, outcomes were detected entirely using machines, suggesting that the risk arising from blinding of outcome assessment (part of deviations from intended interventions assessment) was low. However, Parvaresh et al. and Williams et al. adopted the perprotocol (PP) analysis, and bias could occur owing to deviations from the intended intervention [38,39]. The detailed results of signaling questions can be found in the supporting file.

3.3. Compliance of intermittent fasting

The attrition rates reported were from 0.0 to 29.2%, which were similar between the intervention and control groups (Table 1) [34,37]. Compliance with dietary intervention was

not reported in any of the studies; however, Carter et al. reported two individuals in the experimental group and five in the control group who dropped out as they could not follow the diet [34].

3.4. Safety of intermittent fasting

- Hypoglycemia: In the study conducted by Carter et al., all events related to hypoglycemia occurred in patients using sulfonylureas and/or insulin, and all participants who experienced hypoglycemia were uncertain whether it had occurred before beginning the trial [34]. The average number of hypoglycemic events did not differ between the groups (mean [SEM]: control group 2.0 [1.0] vs. treatment group 2.5 [0.8], P = 0.74).
- (2) Other adverse events: Carter et al. also reported that there were seven and three participants who experienced hyperglycemia in the IF and control groups, respectively [34]. Sundfør et al. reported some adverse events, such as mild headache (treatment group 20% vs. control group 5%), dizziness (treatment group 11% vs. control group 3%), mild nausea (treatment group 6% vs. control group 2%), and temporary sleep disturbance (treatment group 2% vs. control group 0%) [27]. Both Williams et al. and Parvaresh et al. reported that there were no adverse events, while Ash et al. did not mention any adverse events [34,37,39].

3.5. Antidiabetic drugs

Ash et al. did not compare the antidiabetic drugs used between the groups [37], while Williams et al. excluded patients administered insulin and whose fasting plasma glucose levels were > 16.7 mmol/L when medications were discontinued [39]. In the third week, three patients in the experimental group and one patient in the control group had fasting glucose levels of > 13.9 mmol/L; therefore, oral hypoglycemic drugs were resumed. Carter et al. implemented a drug reduction plan during intervention based on the patients' HbA1c levels (Table S2) and compared the change



Fig. 1 – Risk of bias judgments of the included studies using the revised Cochrane risk of bias tool for randomized trials on glucose outcomes across five domains.

in medication effect score (MES) between the groups [34]. An MES is calculated as follows [40]:

(actual drug dose/maximum drug dose)

× drug mean adjustment factor.

The MES value is directly proportional to the dose of the antidiabetic drug. No significant difference was found between the groups (IF group -0.6 [SE = 0.1] vs. control group -0.3 [SE = 0.1], P = 0.11).

3.6. Meta-analysis

3.6.1. Glycemic control

Fig. 2 depicts the effect of IF on glycemic control. Three studies [27,34,39] reported changes in HbA1c levels. No statistical difference was found between the IF and control groups (MD = -0.06, 95% confidence interval [CI] [-0.27, 0.16] %, P = 0.62, $I^2 = 16$ %). Three trials [27,38,39] reported changes in fasting glucose levels. Meta-analysis showed no difference between the two groups (MD = -0.27, 95% CI [-0.76, 0.22], P = 0.28, $I^2 = 64$ %). Sensitivity analyses were performed owing to high heterogeneity. Two studies reported a change in fasting insulin levels, and there was no significant difference observed between the groups (MD = -0.17, 95% CI [-0.57, 0.22], P = 0.39, I² = 0%) [38,39].

3.6.2. Change in weight

All four studies reported changes in weight before and after the diet intervention. Fig. 3 shows a comparison of the effects of IF and CERD on body weight. When statistically pooled, the change in weight was -1.70 (95% CI [-3.28, -0.11] kg, P = 0.04, I^2 = 56%), indicating that IF was more effective than continuous energy restriction for successful weight loss.

Three trials [27,34,38] reported an improvement in body mass index (BMI), and the *meta*-analysis showed no difference between the groups (MD = -0.31, 95% CI [-0.91, -0.30] kg/m², P = 0.32, I² = 50%) (Fig. 3).

3.6.3. Lipid profile

Fig. 4 shows a forest plot comparing the effects of IF with those of CERD on weight loss. No statistical difference was observed in the lipid profile that included total cholesterol, triacylglycerol, LDL cholesterol, and HDL cholesterol in the three trials [27,38,39].

1. HbA1c



Fig. 2 – Forest plot comparing the effects of intermittent fasting with those of continuous energy restriction on glycemic control (the size of the box represents the weight of each study, and the lateral tips of the diamond show the confidence interval of the pooled result).



Fig. 3 - Forest plot comparing the effects of intermittent fasting with those of continuous energy restriction on weight change.

| 1. TC | Exp | eriment | al | C | ontrol | | | Std. Mean Difference | | Std. Mean Difference |
|--|----------|------------------------|----------------|----------|--------------------|----------|--------|----------------------|-----------------|---|
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Random, 95% Cl | Year | IV, Random, 95% Cl |
| Williams 1998 | -0.31 | 0.8 | 16 | -0.25 | 0.7 | 14 | 14.2% | -0.08 [-0.79, 0.64] | 1998 | |
| Sundfør 2018 | -0.16 | 0.6 | 54 | -0.07 | 0.5 | 58 | 53.0% | -0.16 [-0.53, 0.21] | 2018 | |
| Parvaresh 2019 | -11 | 24.59 | 35 | -8 | 31.09 | 34 | 32.8% | -0.11 [-0.58, 0.37] | 2019 | |
| | | 21.00 | | Ť | 01.00 | •. | | 0.11[0.000]0.01] | 20.0 | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 105 | | | 106 | 100.0% | -0.13 [-0.40, 0.14] | | - |
| Heterogeneity: Tau ² = | 0.00; C | hi² = 0.0 | 6, df = | 2 (P = 0 | .97); I²÷ | = 0% | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: Z = 0.96 (P = 0.34) -1 -0.5 U | | | | | | | | | -1 -0.3 0 0.3 1 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | Favors Favors [control] |
| 2. TG | | | | | | | | | | [experimental] |
| | Exp | eriment | al | C | ontrol | | | Std. Mean Difference | |)ifference |
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV, Random, 95% CI | Year | IV, Random, 95% Cl |
| Williams 1998 | -1.15 | 0.6 | 16 | -0.77 | 1.1 | 14 | 13.9% | -0.43 [-1.15, 0.30] | 1998 | - |
| Sundfør 2018 | -0.35 | 0.7 | 54 | -0.36 | 0.6 | 58 | 53.3% | 0.02 [-0.36, 0.39] | 2018 | |
| Parvaresh 2019 | -52 | 90.56 | 35 | -40 | 78.02 | 34 | 32.8% | -0.14 [-0.61, 0.33] | 2019 | |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 105 | | | 106 | 100.0% | -0.10 [-0.37, 0.17] | | - |
| Heterogeneity: Tau ² = | 0.00; CI | hi ^z = 1.1 | 7, df = | 2 (P = 0 | P = 0.56); I² = 0% | | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: | Z = 0.70 | (P = 0.4) | 48) | | | | | | | -2 -1 0 1 2 |
| | | | | | | | | | | Favors Favors [control] |
| 3. LDL | | | | | | | | | | [experimental] |
| | Exp | eriment | al | с | ontrol | - | | Std. Mean Difference | | [experimental] ifference |
| Study or Subgroup | Mean | SD | lotal | Mean | SD | lotal | Weight | IV, Random, 95% Cl | Year | IV, Random, 95% Cl |
| Williams 1998 | -0.15 | 0.6 | 16 | -0.19 | 0.6 | 14 | 14.2% | 0.06 [-0.65, 0.78] | 1998 | |
| Sundfør 2018 | -0.16 | 0.4 | 54 | -0.07 | 0.5 | 58 | 53.1% | -0.20 [-0.57, 0.17] | 2018 | |
| Parvaresh 2019 | -0 | 20.26 | 30 | U | 21.4 | 34 | 32.1% | -0.24 [-0.71, 0.24] | 2019 | - |
| Total (95% CI) | | | 105 | | | 106 | 100.0% | -0.17 [-0.44, 0.10] | | - |
| Heterogeneity: Tau ² = | 0.00; C | hi² = 0.5 | 1, df = | 2 (P = 0 |).78); I² | = 0% | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: | Z=1.25 | 5 (P = 0.) | 21) | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | Favors Favors [control] |
| 4. HDL | Exp | eriment | al | C | ontrol | | | Std. Mean Difference | | [experimental] |
| Study or Subaroup | Mean | SD | Total | Mean | SD | Total | Weight | IV. Random. 95% Cl | Year | IV. Random, 95% Cl |
| Williams 1998 | 0.03 | 0.1 | 16 | 0.15 | 0.2 | 14 | 17.1% | -0.75 [-1.50, -0.01] | 1998 | |
| Sundfør 2018 | 0.05 | 0.2 | 54 | 0.06 | 0.1 | 58 | 47.9% | -0.06 [-0.43, 0.31] | 2018 | |
| Parvaresh 2019 | -1 | 10.48 | 35 | 0 | 9.35 | 34 | 35.0% | -0.10 [-0.57, 0.37] | 2019 | |
| Total (05% CI) | | | 105 | | | 106 | 100.0% | 0 40 5 0 52 0 441 | | |
| Hotorogonoity Tou? - | 0.020 | hiz = 2.7 | CUI - th G | 2/0 - 0 | 1.763-12 | - 200 | 100.0% | -0.19 [-0.55, 0.14] | | |
| Tect for overall effect: | 0.03, C | 11° = 2.7 179 = 0.1 | 0, ui = 26) | 2 (P = l | | - 20% | | | | -1 -0.5 0 0.5 1 |
| rescior overall effect. | Z - 1.14 | r (F = 0 | 20) | | | | | | | E |
| | | | | | | | | | | ravors [control] Favors [experimental] |

Fig. 4 – Forest plot comparing the effects of intermittent fasting with those of continuous energy restriction on lipid profile (TC: total cholesterol, TG: triglyceride, LDL: low-density lipoprotein, HDL: high-density lipoprotein.

3.7. Publication bias

The funnel plot of the effect of IF on glycemic control presents an approximately symmetric pattern (Fig. S2A), suggesting that the results were less likely to be affected by publication bias. The funnel plot based on the change in body weight also showed considerable symmetry (Fig. S2B).

3.8. Sensitivity analysis

Carter et al. and Williams et al. enrolled patients with T2DM, and the other two studies enrolled patients with metabolic syndrome [34,39]. When the study of Sundfør et al. was dropped on in the analysis on HbA1c levels, leaving two studies researching on T2DM, there is still no difference(M D = -0.01, 95% CI [-0.62, 0.61] kg/m², P = 0.20, I² = 40%). Similarly, when two studies researching on metabolic syndrome were left on fasting plasma glucose, the difference between two groups remained non-significant (MD = -0.45, 95% CI [-1.08, 0.17] kg/m², P = 0.14, I² = 54%).

Parvaresh et al. performed a follow-up of the participants for 8 weeks, and when this study was omitted in the pooled analysis on fasting glucose, the heterogeneity decreased from 64% to 0%, while the difference remained non-significant [38,41].

Sundfør et al. and Carter et al. adopted intention-to-treat analysis [27,34], while Williams et al. and Parvaresh et al. used the PP analysis [38,39]. When the last two studies were removed from the combination of changes in weight loss, the difference in weight improvement between the two groups became insignificant (P = 0.52, $I^2 = 50\%$).

4. Discussion

4.1. Summary of evidence

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first *meta*analysis that compares the effects of IF patterns with those of CERD in patients with T2DM and metabolic syndrome. We found that IF was comparable with CERD. This review revealed that the change in HbA1c, fasting insulin, fasting glucose levels, and lipids profile did not significantly differ between the two groups. And the change in MES through diet intervention showed no statistical difference, suggesting that IF has an approximately similar effect on the prevention and control of diabetes. However, intermittent fasting may have an edge on the effect on weight loss.

Patients with metabolic syndrome have multiple risk factors, including elevated blood glucose levels, insulin resistance, and a high risk of developing T2DM; thus, appropriate weight loss is beneficial to improve their blood glucose, lipid profile, and blood pressure [42]. Therefore, we included studies comprising subjects with metabolic syndrome.

Regarding weight loss, although the pooled results of weight loss showed that IF was superior to CERD, the difference lost its statistical significance after excluding the two studies using PP analysis [38,39]; furthermore, no significant difference was found in BMI. This suggests that IF may be more effective than CERD for weight loss; however, the differences and clinical significance need to be further verified. Energy intake difference between the two groups is also an important factor in weight loss besides diet pattern. However, of the studies included, the differences in energy intake by design or recorded were either of no significance or quite small (approximately 200 cal/d estimated), which would result in little to no differences at a relatively short term.

In this study, a systematic review of the compliance and safety of dietary regimens was carried out, considering that these factors would have a significant impact on glycemic control. With longer intervention time, the rate of attrition increased, which may also be associated with the frequency of follow-up, dietary regimen, and study population. Overall, the subjects followed the diets of each group with good compliance during the period of diet intervention, and the incidences of hypoglycemic events were similar in both groups. In addition, considering the effects of antidiabetic drugs on glycemic control, the study also extracted drug adjustment protocols for individuals with T2DM (Table 1). According to Williams et al. and Carter et al. [27,39], there was no significant difference observed in the amount of medication reduction between the two groups during the intervention, indicating that the effect of IF was comparable with that of CERD on glycemic control. Other adverse events reported by Sundfør et al. [27,44] were subjective and mild, and may be attributed to participants knowing the intervention because blinding was impossible. Therefore, a more rigorous evaluation of a patient's subjective feelings is required.

Our results are similar to those reported by Seimon et al. [24] and Welton et al., [43] which stated that intermittent energy restriction was as effective as continuous energy restriction in reducing blood glucose levels and aiding in weight loss in people with obesity, representing an effective option for weight control. However, Seimon et al. [24] did not perform quantitative synthesis, and the subjects included were healthy people with obesity.

4.2. Limitations

This study had certain limitations. First, there exists certain heterogeneity among the trials and diet regimens, with the duration of intervention probably being the main source of heterogeneity. Therefore, the random-effects models were used for merging in this study, and sensitivity analyses were conducted according to possible sources. Second, there were only a few RCTs whose sample size was not large and met the inclusion criteria, and there were even fewer studies conducted on patients with T2DM [28,34]. In addition, the study focused on alternative outcomes (HbA1c, fasting blood glucose, etc.), and the intervention time ranged from 8 weeks to 12 months; therefore, it was not possible to obtain a definitive conclusion of the effect of IF on glycemic control. Given that the current study is not registered, there may be a small deviation, but we have strictly followed the steps of systematic evaluation as the flow chart described.

5. Conclusions

IF has positive effects on glycemic control in patients with T2DM or metabolic syndrome, and patient compliance and safety are comparable to those in CERD. In addition, the administration of antidiabetic drugs during intervention is similar between both diets. However, due to limitations such as heterogeneity and a small sample size, more long-term clinical trials are needed to assess the safety and effective-ness of IF in patients with T2DM.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Xue Wang: Formal analysis, Writing – original draft. Qifei Li: Investigation. Yan Liu: Writing – review & editing. Hua Jiang: Methodology. Wei Chen: Conceptualization, Supervision.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

The authors express their sincere appreciation to their colleague Zhangping Yu for her support and advice in writing the manuscript, and Hongpeng Liu for her advice with the revision. This research was funded by the Beijing Municipal Commission of Science and Technology (grant number: Z191100008619006).

Data Availability Statement

Data are contained within the article.

Institutional Review Board Approval

Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement

Not applicable.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2021.109003.

REFERENCES

- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 populationbased studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet 2016; 387: 1513–1530.
- [2] GBD 2017 Risk Factor Collaborators. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioural,

environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2018; 392: 1923–1994.

- [3] Mechanick JI, Hurley DL, Garvey WT. Adiposity-based chronic disease as a new diagnostic term: The American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists and American College of Endocrinology Position Statement. Endocr Pract 2017;23:372–8.
- [4] Reber E, Norman K, Endrich O, Schuetz P, Frei A, Stanga Z. Economic challenges in nutritional management. J Clin Med 2019;8:1005.
- [5] Jensen MD, Ryan DH, Apovian CM, et al. 2013 AHA/ACC/TOS guideline for the management of overweight and obesity in adults. Circulation 2014;129:S102–38.
- [6] National Health, Medical Research Council. Australian Dietary Guidelines. Canberra, Australia: National Health and Medical Research Council; 2013.
- [7] Longo VD, Fabrizio P. Regulation of longevity and stress resistance: a molecular strategy conserved from yeast to humans? Cell Mol Life Sci 2002;59:903–8.
- [8] McCay CM, Crowell MF, Maynard LA. The effect of retarded growth upon the length of life-span and upon the ultimate body size. 1935. Nutrition 1989; 5: 155-171; discussion 172.
- [9] Colman RJ, Anderson RM, Johnson SC, et al. Caloric restriction delays disease onset and mortality in rhesus monkeys. Science 2009;325:201–4.
- [10] Das SK, Roberts SB, Bhapkar MV, et al. Body-composition changes in the Comprehensive Assessment of Long-term Effects of Reducing Intake of Energy (CALERIE)-2 study: a 2-y randomized controlled trial of calorie restriction in nonobese humans. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;105:913–27.
- [11] Heilbronn LK, de Jonge L, Frisard, et al. Effect of 6-month calorie restriction on biomarkers of longevity; metabolic adaptation; and oxidative stress in overweight individuals: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2006; 295: 1539–1548.
- [12] Johnson ML, Distelmaier K, Lanza IR, et al. Mechanism by which caloric restriction improves insulin sensitivity in sedentary obese adults. Diabetes 2016;65:74–84.
- [13] Martin CK, Heilbronn LK, de Jonge L, et al. Effect of calorie restriction on resting metabolic rate and spontaneous physical activity. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2007;15:2964–73.
- [14] Ravussin E, Redman LM, Rochon J, et al. A 2-year randomized controlled trial of human caloric restriction: Feasibility and effects on predictors of health span and longevity. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2015;70:1097–104.
- [15] Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group, Knowler WC, Fowler SE, et al. 10-year follow-up of diabetes incidence and weight loss in the Diabetes Prevention Program Outcomes Study. Lancet 2009; 374: 1677–1686.
- [16] Sumithran P, Prendergast LA, Delbridge E, et al. Long-term persistence of hormonal adaptations to weight loss. N Engl J Med 2011;365:1597–604.
- [17] Franz MJ, VanWormer JJ, Crain AL, et al. Weight-loss outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of weightloss clinical trials with a minimum 1-year follow-up. J Am Diet Assoc 2007;107:1755–67.
- [18] Anastasiou CA, Karfopoulou E, Yannakoulia M. Weight regaining: From statistics and behaviors to physiology and metabolism. Metabolism 2015;64:1395–407.
- [19] Marlatt KL, Redman LM, Burton JH, Martin CK, Ravussin E. Persistence of weight loss and acquired behaviors 2 y after stopping a 2-y calorie restriction intervention. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;105:928–35.
- [20] Patterson RE, Sears DD. Metabolic effects of intermittent fasting. Annu Rev Nutr 2017;37:371–93.
- [21] Johnstone A. Fasting for weight loss: an effective strategy or latest dieting trend? Int J Obes (Lond) 2015;39:727–33.

- [22] Barnosky AR, Hoddy KK, Unterman TG, Varady KA. Intermittent fasting vs daily calorie restriction for type 2 diabetes prevention: a review of human findings. Transl Res 2014;164:302–11.
- [23] Headland M, Clifton PM, Carter S, Keogh JB. Weight-loss outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of intermittent energy restriction trials lasting a minimum of 6 months. Nutrients 2016;8:354.
- [24] Seimon RV, Roekenes JA, Zibellini J, et al. Do intermittent diets provide physiological benefits over continuous diets for weight loss? A systematic review of clinical trials. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2015;418:153–72.
- [25] de Cabo R, Mattson MP. Effects of intermittent fasting on health; aging; and disease. N Engl J Med 2019;381:2541–51.
- [26] Carter S, Clifton PM, Keogh JB. The effect of intermittent compared with continuous energy restriction on glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: 24-month follow-up of a randomised noninferiority trial. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2019;151:11–9.
- [27] Sundfør TM, Svendsen M, Tonstad S. Effect of intermittent versus continuous energy restriction on weight loss; maintenance and cardiometabolic risk: A randomized 1-year trial. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2018;28:698–706.
- [28] Overland J, Griffiths C, Gauld A, et al. Intermittent fasting vs. continuous energy restriction: A pilot study in people with type 2 diabetes and overweight and obesity. Diabetes 2017; 66: A202.
- [29] Carter S, Clifton PM, Keogh JB. The effects of intermittent compared to continuous energy restriction on glycaemic control in type 2 diabetes; a pragmatic pilot trial. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2016;122:106–12.
- [30] Harvie M, Wright C, Pegington M, et al. The effect of intermittent energy and carbohydrate restriction v. daily energy restriction on weight loss and metabolic disease risk markers in overweight women. Br J Nutr 2013;110:1534–47.
- [31] Harvie MN, Pegington M, Mattson MP, et al. The effects of intermittent or continuous energy restriction on weight loss and metabolic disease risk markers: a randomized trial in young overweight women. Int J Obes (Lond) 2011;35:714–27.
- [32] Headland ML, Clifton PM, Keogh JB. Effect of intermittent compared to continuous energy restriction on weight loss and weight maintenance after 12 months in healthy overweight or obese adults. Int J Obes (Lond). 2019;43:2028–36.
- [33] Panizza CE, Lim U, Yonemori KM, et al. Effects of intermittent energy restriction combined with a Mediterranean diet on

reducing visceral adiposity: A randomized active comparator pilot study. Nutrients 2019;11:1386.

- [34] Carter S, Clifton PM, Keogh JB. Effect of intermittent compared with continuous energy restricted diet on glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: A randomized noninferiority trial. JAMA Netw Open 2018;1 e180756.
- [35] Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. BMJ 2009;339 b2535.
- [36] Higgins JPT, Li T, Deeks JJ. Choosing effect measures and computing estimates of effect. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, eds. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons; 2019.
- [37] Ash S, Reeves MM, Yeo S, Morrison G, Carey D, Capra S. Effect of intensive dietetic interventions on weight and glycaemic control in overweight men with Type II diabetes: a randomised trial. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2003;27:797–802.
- [38] Parvaresh A, Razavi R, Abbasi B, et al. Modified alternate-day fasting vs. calorie restriction in the treatment of patients with metabolic syndrome: A randomized clinical trial. Complement Ther Med 2019; 47: 102187.
- [39] Williams KV, Mullen ML, Kelley DE, Wing RR. The effect of short periods of caloric restriction on weight loss and glycemic control in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 1998;21:2–8.
- [40] Mayer SB, Jeffreys AS, Olsen MK, McDuffie JR, Feinglos MN, Yancy Jr WS. Two diets with different haemoglobin A1c and antiglycaemic medication effects despite similar weight loss in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obes Metab 2014;16:90–3.
- [41] Razavi R, Parvaresh A, Abbasi B, et al. The alternate-day fasting diet is a more effective approach than a calorie restriction diet on weight loss and hs-CRP levels. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 2020:1–9.
- [42] Ferland A, Eckel RH. Does sustained weight loss reverse the metabolic syndrome? Curr Hypertens Rep 2011;13:456–64.
- [43] Welton S, Minty R, O'Driscoll T, et al. Intermittent fasting and weight loss: Systematic review. Can Fam Physician 2020;66:117–25.
- [44] Sundfør TM, Tonstad S, Svendsen M. Effects of intermittent versus continuous energy restriction for weight loss on diet quality and eating behavior. A randomized trial. Eur J Clin Nutr 2019;73:1006–14.